IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

In the Matter of the Guardianship of
the Person and Estate of:

LORETTA POWELL

An Adult Protected Person.

Electronically Filed
Nov 09 2020 11:27 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

WILLIAM J POWELL JR,

Appellant,

vs.

LORETTA POWELL,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No.: 80210

District Case No.: G-19-052315-A

APPELLANT'S OPENING
BRIEF

I. SCOTT BOGATZ, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 3367

KERRY E. KLEIMAN, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 14071

BRAD LIPMAN, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 14567

REID RUBINSTEIN & BOGATZ

300 South 4th Street, Suite 830

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone: (702) 776-7903

Facsimile: (702) 776-7900

Email: Sbogatz@rrblf.com

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is proper since this is an appeal of a Nevada district court denial and dismissal of William's petition for Guardianship over his adult mother, Loretta Powell. The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over final judgments entered in actions or proceedings commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered under NRAP 3A(b)(1). The due date for Appellant's Opening Brief is November 9, 2020.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant recognizes that this case is typically assigned by the Supreme Court to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(10)-cases involving family law matters other than termination of parental rights or NRS Chapter 432B proceedings. This case finds itself before the Supreme Court via the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada and the Pro Bono Committee's volunteer program. On March 27, 2020, this Court entered an order directing transmission of record to this venue.

III. INTRODUCTION

On October 30, 2019, the Nevada District Court underlying this appeal misapplied Nevada law and dismissed William Powell, Jr.'s petition to gain guardianship of his elderly mother. That court dismissed his petition, stating that he had not supported his petition by "clear and

1 convincing evidence that would get [the court] to where we would need to
2 have an evidentiary hearing.” While this is, on its face, a misapplication
3 of Nevada law, it is also a spotlight on an evidentiary requirement that
4 remains undefined.

5 Under current Nevada guardianship law, courts have discretion in
6 deciding whether an evidentiary hearing will occur prior to a final
7 determination of a petition. This policy is the trap that William Powell, Jr.
8 was placed, and is one that allows Nevada courts to apply Nevada law in
9 uneven and unjust ways. This Court, in Christina O. v. State Dep't of
10 Family Servs. (In re Estate of A.M.) No. 59116, 2013 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS
11 908, at *11 n.7 (May 24, 2013), determined that in circumstances where
12 no evidentiary hearing was requested, the court had not abused their
13 discretion. However, the Court and Nevada law have remained silent on
14 how Nevada courts should proceed in instances where petitioners request
15 an evidentiary hearing. Such a scenario presents itself here.

16 Here, Mr. Powell supported his request for an evidentiary hearing
17 with all of the evidence at his (limited) disposal—some of which *directly*
18 *contradicts* the opposition’s—and despite the questions of material fact,
19 the court held Mr. Powell to a standard of clear and convincing evidence
20 simply to proceed to an evidentiary hearing. It must be clarified over what
21

evidentiary hurdle petitioners must initially jump to exercise their right to request an evidentiary hearing under Nevada law, and the lower court’s decision in this case must be overturned so that this action may proceed to evidentiary hearing.

IV. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. William Begins Caring for Loretta

In or about the summer of 2017, Appellant, William Powell, Jr. (“Appellant” or “William”), David Powell informed William that his mother, Loretta Powell (“Loretta”), was in need of caregiving services and suggested to William that he relocate to Las Vegas to provide her with those services. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 68. William agreed to move in with Loretta and to provide her the help she needed. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 68. Upon his arrival, William discovered that Loretta had developed severe short-term memory deficits, significant cognitive decline, and an inability to live independently, manage her own financial affairs, or even drive. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 35.

B. William Attempts to Relocate

William provided caregiving services for Loretta in nearly every facet of Loretta’s life. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 70. However, having lived with Loretta for two years, William concluded that relocating out of Las Vegas was in both of their best interests. Despite Loretta’s codependent state, Loretta

1 rejected relocating so that William could continue her care in a better
2 environment. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 234.

3 **C. William Files his Petition for Appointment of Guardian**

4 Being without the legal authority to best care for Loretta, William
5 filed his Petition for Appointment of Guardian Over an Adult on October 2,
6 2019. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 4. Subsequently and unbeknownst to William, his
7 brother David Powell, travelled to Las Vegas and removed Loretta from her
8 and William's home. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 146.

9 On October 14, 2019, the court appointed Legal Aid Center of
10 Southern Nevada as Loretta's counsel, and provided them with full access
11 to Loretta's medical and financial records. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 156.

12 Also on October 14, 2019, William filed an Ex Parte Motion for an
13 Order Shortening Time to move up the Guardianship Hearing from October
14 30, 2019. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 142. William included in that Ex Parte Motion
15 a physician certification from July 2019 that states "[Loretta is] unable to
16 live independently, unable to manage own financials affairs, [and] unable to
17 drive." Rec. App. Vol. 1, 153. A few days later, on October 21, 2019,
18 William filed an Ex Parte Motion for Release of Medical Records to obtain
19 the physician's certification necessary to establish Loretta's need for a
20 guardian. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 164.

On October 29, 2019, Loretta filed an opposition to William’s petition, and included with it an exhibit purported to be certification of her capacity to execute a power of attorney. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 236. The court heard all pending motions on October 30, 2019. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 19–20; Tr. Hr’g, 1.

D. The October 30, 2019 Hearing

At the October 30, 2019 hearing, William submitted to the court a July 11, 2019, physician’s certification detailing Loretta’s mental incapacity—the very reason she is unable to live independently. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 25–33; Tr. Hr’g, 17. William argued to the court that an evidentiary hearing was necessary to determine Loretta’s need for a guardian because the certificates submitted by Loretta and William directly contradicted one another. Tr. Hr’g, 27.

The court turned its attention on Loretta’s most recent certification, and questioned Loretta’s counsel regarding the neurological exam Loretta underwent. Tr. Hr’g, 27. Ms. Anderson relayed that Loretta underwent a “mini-mental status exam” and the neurologist awarded her 28 of 30 points. Tr. Hr’g, 41. At this, William proffered arguments that Loretta’s certification was inadequate as a result of the examination’s duration and thoroughness. Tr. Hr’g, 36.

Ultimately, the court determined that William had not supported his petition by “clear and convincing evidence that would get us to where we would need to have an evidentiary hearing.” Tr. Hr’g, 58. The court found there was a suggestion that Loretta possessed the capacity to exercise power of contract and that there appeared to be a less restrictive alternative than guardianship. Tr. Hr’g, 59. As such, the court dismissed William’s petition without an evidentiary hearing. Rec. App. Vol. 2, 244–45.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Nevada District Court Erred in Denying William’s Request for an Evidentiary Hearing.

Nevada law is well-settled that evidentiary hearings are not required under NRS Chapter 159, but that it is under the district court’s discretion to determine when a hearing is necessary. See McKay v. Bd. of Cty. Comm’r, 103 Nev. 490, 492, 746 P.2d 124, 125 (1987); see also Christina O. v. State Dep’t of Family Servs. (In re Estate of A.M.), No. 59116, 2013 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 908, at *11 n.7 (May 24, 2013). In an unpublished case from 2013, this Court held the following:

[E]ven if the statue [sic] did contemplate an evidentiary hearing, [petitioner] did not request one nor did she present any additional information showing that an evidentiary hearing was warranted. Thus, we conclude that the district court was not required to hold a separate

1 evidentiary hearing and therefore did not abuse its
2 discretion in this regard.

3 In re Estate of A.M., at *11 n.7.

4 William, acting as a pro se litigant¹, began his argument to the court
5 that an evidentiary hearing was necessary because of a physician's
6 certification that was "*done over a six month period*" and which was "*not a*
7 *one-time thing, not a one day ---- process.*" Tr. Hr'g, 17 (emphasis added).
8 While William could have more directly and articulately made his points,
9 two exist. First is the argument that Loretta is mentally incapable, and
10 second, is the argument that Loretta's certification of her capacity to execute
11 a power of attorney was improperly conducted. Each of these arguments
12 posits a contested and unresolved issue of fact ripe for an evidentiary
13 hearing, each of which was also supported by contradictory evidence
14 presented in conjunction with the petition. William both requested an
15 evidentiary hearing and supported the need for one by presenting additional
16 information showing its merit. See In re Estate of A.M., at *11 n.7.

17 Though, as discussed above, Nevada law remains largely
18 uninterpreted regarding a guardianship petitioner's right to request an
19

20 ¹ "[D]istrict courts should assist pro se litigants as much as reasonably possible"
21 Kahn v. Orme, 108 Nev. 510, 515, 835 P.2d 790, 794 (1992).

1 evidentiary hearing, California courts have consistently held that it is abuse
2 of discretion to dismiss similar petitions without an evidentiary hearing
3 where an evidentiary hearing is requested. See, e.g., Conservatorship of the
4 Pers. & Estate of Galera v. Ramirez, No. B272328, 2017 Cal. App. Unpub.
5 LEXIS 5762 (Aug. 22, 2017); Guardianship of Olivia J., 84 Cal. App. 4th
6 1146, 1149, 101 Cal. Rptr. 2d 364, 365 (2000). This Court should adopt a
7 similar approach concerning requested evidentiary hearings to promote
8 justice and ensure due process is met.

9 **B. The Nevada District Court Erroneously Applied the Clear**
10 **and Convincing Standard of Proof to William’s Request**
11 **for an Evidentiary Hearing.**

12 NRS 159.055(1) provides that a petitioner under NRS Chapter 159
13 “has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that the
14 appointment of a guardian of the person . . . is necessary.” As discussed
15 above, Nevada law calls for the district court’s discretion in determining
16 when an evidentiary hearing is necessary. See McKay 103 Nev. at 492, 746
17 P.2d at 125 (1987); see also In re Estate of A.M., 2013 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS
18 908, at *11 n.7.

19 The underlying court determined that William had not supported his
20 petition by “clear and convincing evidence that would get us to where we
21

would need to have an evidentiary hearing.” Tr. Hr’g, 58. The court’s application of a clear and convincing burden of proof as a barrier of entry to the evidentiary hearing—where a petitioner is expected to prove by clear and convincing evidence that appointment of a guardian is necessary—is, on its face, a misapplication of Nevada law. The evidentiary standard cannot be identical at the preliminary, evidentiary hearing request stage as it is during the petitioner’s subsequent presentation of his/her case in chief. The court’s utilization of the clear and convincing standard in determining whether William’s evidentiary hearing request is reversible error,

Rather than rendering NRS Chapter 159 evidentiary hearings obsolete, this Court should resolve this uncertain area of Nevada law by imposing a standard that promotes justice and ensures due process is met.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, the lower court’s order dismissing Appellant’s petition should be overturned, and this case should be remanded to complete the requisite evidentiary hearing.