IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

On October 30, 2019, the guardianship Court properly granted the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss William Powell, Jr.'s ("Appellant's") Petition for Guardianship of his mother, Loretta Powell ("Respondent"). The court granted the Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that Appellant's Petition was "not supported by sufficient evidence, by clear and convincing evidence, that would get [the court] to where [it] would need to have an evidentiary hearing." Tr. H'rg, 58.

Pursuant to Nevada guardianship law, the petitioner "has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that the appointment of a guardian of the person, of the estate, or of the person and estate is necessary." Nev. Rev. Stat. §159.055(1). Here, the Appellant failed to do so.

Nevada guardianship law does not mandate an evidentiary hearing, and therefore, Appellant was not entitled to one. See Nev. Rev. Stat. Chapter 159. If an evidentiary hearing was required, the legislature would have been clear and set forth such a requirement, which it has not. Here, it is clearly in the discretion of the district court to grant an evidentiary hearing, and Appellant did not make a prima facie case as to why a guardianship was needed at that time over his mother.

II.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In 2017, Appellant was in the hospital suffering from a spinal infection. Tr. H'rg, 18. After being discharged, Appellant went to

8

12

13

11

14 15

16

17 18

19

2021

23

22

24

25

26

2728

live with his mother in order to save money. Tr. H'rg, 18. After living with his mother, Appellant decided to file a Petition for Appointment of Guardian(s) Over Adult Including Request for Temporary Guardianship on October 2, 2019. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 4.

For two years, Appellant resided with his mother so that the she could assist him as he recovered from a surgery so that he could get back on his feet. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 173. Respondent has employment in Las Vegas as a hairdresser, and she transports herself to and from work. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 234. Respondent is not only healthy and capable of taking care of herself, she is happy. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 234.

living with his mother for two years, After Appellant threatened his own mother, telling her he would pursue a quardianship to have her placed with a family friend in Long Beach, California. He also threatened that he would take her out of Las Vegas and to Florida with him. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 234. Respondent resisted against these threats, and as a result, Appellant began to terrorize Respondent by taking control of her life: he listened to her voicemails, blocked phone numbers, destroyed her personal property, and made many derogatory remarks about her. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 234. On September 29, 2019, only a few weeks before Appellant filed for guardianship, he sent a message on Facebook to family members calling his own mother "Dementia Aunt Loretta." Rec. App. Vol. 1, 183. In another Facebook post made on September 29, 2019, Appellant said that his mother is "bipolar and should be red flagged." Rec. App. Vol. 1, 184. On October 10, 2019, Appellant called his mother a "Demented Alcoholic" who "is sick." Rec. App.

Vol. 1, 185. On October 13, 2019, Appellant called his mother "Liar Loretta." Rec. App. Vol. 1, 186.

After making these derogatory statements against his mother, Appellant filed for Guardianship over her. On October 14, 2019, Appellant filed an Ex Parte Motion for an Order Shortening Time in which he included a form completed by a psychiatrist, Dr. Adekunle Ajayi, MD. on July 11, 2019. This form stated Respondent has a "major neurocognitive disorder, without behavioral disturbances," also noting that Respondent is "unable to live independently, [and] unable to manage her own financial affairs, unable to drive." Rec. App. Vol. 1, 153. However, on July 12, 2019, Dr. Margaret Sweeney, a physician, completed a Certification Regarding Capacity to Execute Power of Attorney. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 232. Dr. Sweeney noted that it was her opinion that Respondent does have the capacity to execute a power of attorney. Rec. App. Vol. 1, 232. A power of attorney is more in the nature of a contract, which requires a high level of capacity. Tr. H'rg, 11.

On October 9, 2019, Attorney Katie Anderson filed a Statement of Legal Aid Representation. On October 14, 2019, the District Court appointed the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada as counsel for the Respondent. Nevada law in Nev. Rev. Stat. 159.328, under the Protected Persons' Bill of Rights, sets forth that a proposed protected person has the right to an attorney before a guardianship is imposed. Not only does the Bill of Rights provide for an attorney, the Bill of Rights ensures that a proposed protected person receives "due consideration given to his or her current and previously stated personal desires," that a proposed protected

person "remain as independent as possible," and that a proposed protected person "be granted the greatest degree of freedom possible." Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 159.328(1)(g)-(i). The District Court must consider and apply the Protected Person's Bill of Rights in all cases.

On October 30, 2019, a hearing was held regarding Appellant's Petition for Guardianship. The Court noted that Dr. Sweeney's certificate was a large hurdle for the Appellant to overcome, as it states that Respondent is competent to sign estate planning documents. Tr. H'rg, 5. The Court emphasized that the capacity that one must have to execute a power of attorney is closer to the capacity needed to contract, reaching a higher level of capacity, a contractual level. Tr. H'rg, 5. This level of capacity means that one understands what they are doing, why they are doing it, and the results of what they are doing. Tr. H'rg, 19.

During the October 30th hearing, the Appellant submitted to the court a disability certification. Rec. App. Vol 1, 25-33¹. Tr. H'rg, 17. The District Court noted that the certification that the Appellant handed to the Court was already part of the documents filed on October 2, 2019. Tr. H'rg, 17. The Court noted that this certification presented by the Appellant, was still not enough to constitute a physician certificate. Tr. H'rg, 40. The certification given by Appellant and the certificate completed by

¹Goldsmith & Guymon was unable to obtain the sealed records from the District Court; however, we were able to obtain the underlying documents through prior counsel, Attorney Anderson. We have tried to match the documents we received with the record's numbers based on the document title, the number of pages in the document, and the date the document was filed.

25

26

27 | . .

Dr. Sweeney are not close enough to contradict each other as they have different meanings: the Court notes that "a disability certificate certificate...is not а physician to support quardianship." Tr. H'rg, 17. The Court again notes that the only physician certificate it has is the one provided by Respondent's counsel at the time that says "she's competent to sign a contract" and "if she can sign a contract she can deal with this with powers of attorney." Tr. H'rg, 48. The court emphasized how important it is to always choose the "least restrictive means." Tr. H'rq, 40. The "least restrictive means" is a reference to the Guardianship Bill of Rights which provides that a proposed protected person has the right to "remain as independent as and be "granted the greatest degree of freedom possible," possible." Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 159.328(h)-(i). Per the only physician's certificate before the court, the Respondent has the requisite capacity/competency to sign powers of attorney, which provides an alternative to guardianship.

During the hearing, the Court inquired about a mini mental status exam that Respondent participated in with Dr. Mahajan from the Las Vegas Neurlogy Center. Tr. H'rg, 15. During this mental exam, Respondent scored a 28 out of 30. Tr. H'rg, 15. This mental exam did suggest that Respondent continue to take medication and continue in therapy, but there were no suggestions that Respondent is incompetent. Tr. H'rg, 15. Although the Appellant argues to the quality of the exams performed for Respondent (Tr. H'rg, 36), the

physician's certificate was provided for by Dr. Sweeney, a physician, and the mini-mental exam was performed by a neurologist. Tr. H'rg, 41.

The Court noted that in order for the Court to dismiss a petition, the Court would need to find that the proposed protected person is not in need of a guardian. Tr. H'rg, 27. If the petition is not dismissed, an evidentiary hearing would be needed. Tr. H'rg, 27. Attorney Anderson noted that the initial requirements for filing a Petition for Appointment of a Guardian are to "include a certificate signed by a physician" and the Appellant did not include this in his Petition. Tr. H'rg, 42. The Court agreed that the Appellant did not support his Petition by "clear and convincing evidence that would get us to where we would need to have an evidentiary hearing." Tr. H'rg, 58. Because the Appellant did not meet the necessary burden as the Petitioner, the Court dismissed the Petition without an evidentiary hearing, as a less restrictive guardianship alternative was available. Rec. App. Vol. 2, 244-45 and Rec. App. Vol. 1, 232.

III.

ARGUMENT

A. The Nevada District Court did not Err in Denying Appellant's Request for an Evidentiary Hearing.

Appellant claims that the District Court erred by denying his request for an evidentiary hearing. Although Appellant's desire was to have an evidentiary hearing, it is neither the Appellant's right, nor decision, to be set for an evidentiary hearing. As Appellant stated in his opening brief, "Nevada law is well-settled

that evidentiary hearings are not required under [Nev. Rev. STAT.] Chapter 159," and that it is "under the district court's discretion to determine when a hearing is necessary." (Opening Brief, 6). The District Court used its discretion to determine that Appellant's Petition did not meet the necessary standards governed by Nev. Rev. STAT. Chapter 159. For that reason, the District Court ordered that there would be no evidentiary hearing needed- a decision that is properly within its discretion.

In an unpublished case from 2013, cited by the Appellant, the Court held that "if the statute [sic] did contemplate an evidentiary hearing, [petitioner] did not request one nor did she present any additional information showing that an evidentiary hearing was warranted." Christina O. V. State Dep't of Family Servs. (In re Estate of A.M.), No. 59116, 2013 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 908, at *11 n.7 (May 24, 2013). This Court specifically provides "if the statute did contemplate an evidentiary hearing" before it continues.

NEV. REV. STAT. Chapter 159, which governs the guardianship of adults, does not require an evidentiary hearing, and therefore, the guardianship statutes do not contemplate an evidentiary hearing. As such, it is legally irrelevant that an evidentiary hearing was requested. In re Estate A.M., the grandmother argued that the district court had failed to hold an evidentiary hearing, in which

. . .

14

17 18

19 20

21 22

23 24

25

26 27

28

specify in Nev. Rev. STAT. 159.1905² that an evidentiary hearing is required, which supports the proposition that the district court has discretion to determine when a hearing is necessary." Id. at *11-12 n.7. The court concluded that "the district court was not required to hold a separate evidentiary hearing and therefore did not abuse its discretion." Id. In this case, the Proposed Protected Person is an adult, not a minor; however, at that time both minors and adults were subject to Nev. Rev. STAT. Chapter 159, in which In re Estate of A.M. found that Nev. Rev. Stat. § 159.1905 does not mandate an evidentiary hearing. Therefore, the district court in the present case did not err in not having an evidentiary hearing. When a statute is clear on its face, the court must give

effect to the statute's plain language. Okada v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 408 P.3d 566, 570 (Nev. 2018). There is not a single instance in Nev. Rev. Stat. Chapter 159 that requires an evidentiary hearing. If the legislature had intended to ensure an evidentiary hearing on all petitions to establish quardianship, it would have or could have done just that. It is not the business of the court "to fill in alleged legislative omissions based on conjecture as to what the legislature would or should have done." McKay v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs, 103 Nev. 490, 492, 746 P.2d 124, 125 (1987). If one of the legislature's purposes in Nev. Rev. Stat.

 $^{^2}$ Nev. Rev. Stat. Chapter 159A was enacted in 2019 carving out minor guardianships from NEV. REV. STAT. Chapter 159. Prior to the enactment of Nev. Rev. Stat. Chapter 159A, minors and adults were addressed in Nev. Rev. STAT. Chapter 159.

10

15

13

2425

26

27

28

Chapter 159 was to allow evidentiary hearings upon request, the statute would state that.

Appellant cites to two (2) California cases and asks that this Court adopt a similar approach concerning requested evidentiary hearings. While Appellant argues that California courts have held that it is an abuse of discretion to dismiss similar petitions without an evidentiary hearing, these holdings should not be applied here as the facts stray too far from the facts in the case in question.

In the first California case cited by the Appellant, the facts concern a woman with progressive dementia being appointed a conservator, and contentions relating to who should serve as the conservator. Conservatorship of the Pers. & Estate of Galera v. Ramirez, No. B272328, 2017 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 5762, at *2 (Aug. The man who brought the appeal argued that an 2017). evidentiary hearing needed to be held because there were contested facts that he appropriately brought to the attention of the probate court. Id. At *9. The Court stated that "if the probate proceeding is contested, a party has a right to an evidentiary hearing." Id. However, the facts for the case in question are very different from those in Galera as Respondent is a competent woman, not a woman with progressive dementia, as demonstrated through the certificate presented by Respondent. In Galera, the woman was receiving care 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and the conservatorship was requested months after she was diagnosed with progressive dementia. Id. at *2, *4. In Galera, the intermediate appellate court stated that "an order denying a request for an evidentiary hearing is

reviewed for an abuse of discretion." Id. at *8-9. The court further stated that in making the determination for abuse of discretion, "the appropriate test is whether the trial court exceeded the bounds of reason." Id. at *9.

Here, the district court clearly did not exceed the bounds of reason. The Appellant failed to fulfill the requirements in his Petition to establish a guardianship, as the court concluded multiple times that he had not filed a correct physician's certificate (Tr. H'rg, 37, 39, 40, 42) and that the issue was more about a family disagreement and not "a legal issue" (Tr. H'rg, 53). The district court did not exceed the bounds of reason, and therefore, there was no abuse of discretion.

In Jason S. v. Valley Hosp. Med. Ctr (In re L.S.), the court concluded that "absent a showing of abuse" it would "not disturb the district court's exercise of discretion concerning guardianship determinations." 120 Nev. 157, 163, 87 P.3d 521, 525 (2004). The court further states that it needed to "be satisfied that the district court's decision was based upon appropriate reasons." Id. Here, the district court's decision was clearly based on appropriate reasons as Appellant did not establish a prima facie case that guardianship was necessary for his mother, as he did not meet the standard that is required, and the only physician's certificate before the court opined that the proposed protected person has the requisite capacity to execute a power of attorney, a less restrictive alternative to Guardianship.

In the second California case cited by Appellant, the facts center around a nonparent petitioning for guardianship.

18 19

20

21 22 23

2.4

25

26

27

28

Guardianship of Olivia J., 84 Cal. App. 4th 1146, 1161, 101 Cal. Rptr. 2d 364, 365 (2000). The Court focuses on how the loss of a relationship with a nonparent may be detrimental for a minor child. Olivia J., 84 Cal. App. 4th 1146, 1159, 101 Cal. Rptr. 2d 364, 373 (2000). In that case, the intermediate appellate court stated that the Appellant should have the opportunity to present relevant evidence to the trial court because the "issue of detriment is factual" and that "it cannot be said on the face of the pleadings that appellant is not entitled to any relief." Olivia J., 84 Cal. App. 4th 1146, 1161, 101 Cal. Rptr. 2d 364, 374 (2000). In this case, the Respondent is an adult, not a minor child, and the facts here do not center around the relationship of a nonparent with a minor child. Here, it can be said that on the face of the pleadings, a guardianship is not necessary as the main issue is that the Appellant simply did not meet the threshold required by law. He failed to file the necessary paperwork to make a prima facie case that a guardianship was necessary, and the Respondent filed a Physician's Certificate that found to the contrary.

It is in the district court's discretion to decide whether an evidentiary hearing is needed. Nev. Rev. Stat. Chapter 159 does not specifically contemplate an evidentiary hearing. Nevada law on this issue should not apply Appellant's attempted reliance on California case law, as the cases are easily distinguishable from the facts in this case. The District Court clearly did not abuse its discretion, and it did not err by denying Appellant an evidentiary hearing.

-

B. The Nevada District Court did not Erroneously Apply the Clear and Convincing Standard of Proof to Appellant's Request for an Evidentiary Hearing.

NEV. REV. STAT. §159.044(1) states that a petitioner "has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that the appointment of a guardian of the person, of the estate, or of the person and the estate is necessary." The only medical documentation that was sufficient in this case set forth that the proposed protected person had the requisite capacity to make a power of attorney. Additionally, Appellant could not overcome this hurdle as he did not present medical documentation that was sufficient to show that Respondent needed a guardian, as having a disability "doesn't mean she needs a guardian." Tr. H'rg, 57. Nev. Rev. STAT. §159.044(2)(i)(1) states that the documentation to demonstrate the need for a guardianship must include "a certificate signed by a physician." The District Court made it clear multiple times that the Court was "lacking a physician certificate," when addressing the Appellant. Tr. H'rg. 40.

The clear and convincing standard of proof is simply the threshold to evidence that an appointment of a guardian is necessary, and is not a barrier of entry to an evidentiary hearing. Petitioners in guardianship proceedings, "must demonstrate that the guardianship itself is necessary by clear and convincing evidence." Lucia A.A. v. Maria M.R. (In re B.A.A.R.), 2020 Nev. App. LEXIS 7, *11, 474 P.3d 838, 136 Nev. Adv. Rep. 57). Appellant's Petition needed to show that his mother needed a guardian by clear and convincing evidence, which he simply could not demonstrate. He failed to establish a prima facie case as he lacked a Physician's

Certificate and Respondent had one to the contrary. While Appellant could not provide that evidence, Respondent did demonstrate that she is competent, in fact she established that her competency level was that of possessing contractual capacity, the highest level. Tr H'rg 25. Before a guardianship is deemed necessary, the least restrictive alternative should be considered. Respondent has the capacity to sign a power of attorney, which means that there is a less restrictive alternative available. Appellant failed to meet the threshold to establish guardianship, there is a less restrictive alternative to guardianship available, and Respondent demonstrated her competence; therefore, an evidentiary hearing was never needed and dismissal was appropriate.

If this Court changed Nevada law to ensure that each person who requested an evidentiary hearing received one, the time and resources of the justice system would be greatly strained. Evidentiary hearings are not obsolete, as they are granted if there is a necessary reason for one. Here, there simply was no reason for the Court to hold an evidentiary hearing.

IV.

CONCLUSION

The District Court did not err by not setting an evidentiary hearing. An evidentiary hearing is in the district court's discretion and is not required or promised by the statute governing guardianship over adults. Furthermore, the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying an evidentiary hearing and therefore, the District Court did not err by not providing Appellant with an evidentiary hearing. The clear and convincing

standard is not a threshold for an evidentiary hearing, but it is a threshold to establish why a guardianship is necessary. Appellant could not meet the first hurdle to establish guardianship as his Petition did not meet the necessary requirements, and therefore, there was no reason to continue to an evidentiary hearing. However, had the proposed protected person not had a physician's certificate, despite the insufficiency of Appellant's medical evidence, an evidentiary hearing may have been appropriate.

Finally, and most importantly, in applying the Guardianship Bill of Rights, a less restrictive alternative was available as the Proposed Protected Person had the requisite capacity to execute a power of attorney, if she so chose.